SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CAROLINE GILBERT,

CASE NO: 94,998

Petitioner,

DCA NO: 97-1573

v.

CLAIM NO: 264-13-5905

PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS, INC.

and CARE ADMIN.SERVICES, INC., D/A: 1/26/95

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THOMAS A. VAUGHAN, ESQUIRE
VAUGHAN, DONOHOE & WILLIAMS
20 N. Orange Avenue, Suite 1307
Orlando, FL 32801
Fla. Bar No.: 406030
(407) 648-4535
Counsel for Petitioner

BILL MCCABE, ESQUIRE
1450 West SR 434, #200
Longwood, FL 32750
Fla. Bar No.: 157067
(407) 830-9191
Co-Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, CAROLINE GILBERT, shall be referred to herein as the "claimant".

The Respondents, PUBLIX SUPERMARKETS, INC. and CARE ADMIN. SERVICES, INC., shall be referred to herein as the "E/C" (Employer/Carrier), or by their separate names.

The Judge of Compensation Claims shall be referred to herein as the "JCC".

References to the Record on Appeal shall be abbreviated by the letter "V" and followed by the applicable volume and page number.

References to the Appendix attached hereto shall be referred to by the letter "A" and followed by the applicable appendix page number. The Appendix contains the Order of the First District Court of Appeal filed 12/28/98.

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The type size and style used in this brief is Courier New, 12 point.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about 10/23/95, Claimant filed a Petition for Benefits ("PFB") for injuries sustained as a result of an industrial accident arising out of and during the course and scope of her employment with the Employer on 1/26/95 (V10-1815). On 11/14/95, the E/C filed their Notice of Denial, denying the compensability of the injury on the grounds that Claimant was on her way to work, and not on a special errand (V10-1818).

Claimant filed an Amended Petition for Benefits on 1/23/96 (V10-

1826). On 1/26/96, the E/C filed their Notice of Denial to the amended petition (V10-1825).

On 2/22/96 (V1-1), and again on 2/23/96 (V2-286), a hearing on the Petition was held before the Honorable JCC Joseph E. Willis, wherein Claimant was seeking the following benefits:

- 1. The compensability of the completely controverted claim;
- 2. Temporary total disability (TTD) from 1/26/95 to the present and continuing due to inability to work, alternatively, permanent total disability from 9/30/95 to present and continuing, due to catastrophic injuries because Claimant qualifies for Social Security Disability (SSD).
- 3. Twenty-four hour attendant care to assist with care of injuries, bathing, dressing, bathroom facilities, to be provided by father and mother for 12 hours at the statutory rate, and by outside provider for remaining

12 hours per day at the statutory rate, said services from 1/26/95 to present and continuing.

4. Physical and mental therapy and rehabilitation to enable Claimant to become more self sufficient with daily living activities.

 $5. \qquad \text{Costs, interest and}$ attorney's fees (V1-6-7; V4-616; V12-2214, 2215).

The E/C defended the claim on the grounds that:

 Claimant was not in the course and scope of employment at the time of her automobile accident.

2. Claimant was on her way to work and not on a special errand at the time of the accident.

3. Automobile accident not causally related to employment.

4. Claimant was precluded from recovering under the worker's compensation law due to the going and coming rule.

5. Claimant was not on a special errand for the employer.

6. No costs, interest or attorney's fees due (V1-9; V4-616; V12-2215).

The E/C did stipulate that if Claimant's claim was found to be compensable, Claimant would be entitled to PTD benefits, and TTD benefits prior to acceptance of PTD benefits (V1-6, 7).

At the time of the hearing, Claimant was unable to testify because of her condition (V1-48, 49). In fact, the JCC noted at a later hearing that the Claimant he saw at the hearing was not even mentally competent to sign her own Petition for Benefits (V3-503).

On 4/3/96, the JCC entered a compensation order denying compensability (V9-1777-1789).

On 5/2/96, counsel for Claimant filed a Motion to Amend and/or Vacate and/or Rehearing (V9-1792-1798). Following a hearing on 5/15/96 (V3-437), the JCC, on 5/16/96 entered an Order vacating the Order of 4/23/96 (V10-1807-1808).

Various motions were filed, and various hearings were held before the JCC on 6/3/96 (V3-463), 6/20/96 (V3-475), 8/2/96 (V3-485), 11/22/96 (V3-562), and 2/27/97 (V3-579).

On 3/21/97 the JCC entered his final order denying compensability (V12-2209-2224). In that Order, the JCC specifically found as follows:

"The Claimant has failed to provide by competent and substantial evidence she suffered compensable a accident on January 26, 1995. specifically find that Claimant was hit by a drunk driver while driving directly work on her customary route to work, at her regularly scheduled time on January 26, 1995." (V12-2216).

Concerning the issue of whether or not Claimant was scheduled

to open the store at 4:00 a.m. on 1/26/95 as part of her customary work schedule, the JCC found, based upon the testimony of Nathan Hicks, David Currey, Mike Schithel, and Terri Brown, and contrary to the testimony of Claimant's family, that Claimant was scheduled to open the store at 4:00 a.m. as part of her customary work schedule (V12-2216, 2217).

The JCC further found that Claimant's mother and father both testified that the normal route from Claimant's home to Publix was the one taken by Claimant on 1/26/95, and there was no evidence to establish that there was any special hazard on the route to work (V12-2217, 2218).

The JCC accepted Claimant's position that she was not prohibited from working on a newsletter at home, and on the basis of live testimony, the JCC was of the opinion that Claimant completed her work on the newsletter before she left for work and before the accident occurred (V12-2218). The JCC also accepted the testimony that the newsletter was in Claimant's possession, along with other work and non-work related items, at the time of the accident (V12-2218). The JCC found that the completion of the newsletter took place before Claimant left for work and before the accident occurred (V12-2218).

The JCC further found, however, that since Claimant was not paid for travel time and was on her way directly to work at her regularly scheduled time and on her normal route when the accident occurred, the evidence did not establish that Claimant was on a "special errand" for the Employer, but was merely

traveling to the store in order to open the store at 4:00 a.m. (V12-2218). The JCC, based on the cases of El Viejo Arco Iris, Inc. v. Ildefonso Luaces, 395 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), and New Dade Apparel, Inc. v. Louis De Lorenzo, 512 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), concluded that Claimant was not on a special errand. The JCC concluded:

"I am of the opinion that falls case directly within the specific exclusion of compensability under the "Going and Coming" Rule as supported by competent and substantial evidence, therefore find any other basis for compensability which may have been argued to be academic because of my ruling regarding application of the factual circumstances accepted this Court in the application of the "Going and Coming" Rule." (V12-2221).

Although the JCC found the claim not compensable, the JCC addressed other issues of the parties and found:

- 1. The E/C's position that there should be a reduction in benefits based upon the failure of the employee to wear a seatbelt was unsupported by the facts and the law (V12-2221);
- $2. \qquad \text{The JCC rejected the} \\ \text{E/C's assertion that } \underline{\text{F.S.}} \text{ 440.02(32)(1994) prohibits recovery (V12-2222); and}$
 - 3. The JCC rejected

Claimant's contention that the claim was compensable based upon the E/C's failure to file a Notice of Denial within 14 days after receipt of the Petition for Benefits (V12-2223).

Based upon these findings, the JCC ordered:

- "(1) The Claimant's claim regarding the compensability of this matter is denied.
- (2) Based upon the above finding, all other claims for indemnity and medical are denied.
- (3) The Claimant's claim for costs, penalties, interest and attorney's fees is denied." (V12-2223-2224).

On 4/9/97, Claimant filed a Motion to Amend and/or Vacate and/or Rehearing (V12-2226). In that motion, Claimant contended:

(1) That her injury was compensable under the Dual Purpose Doctrine, and based on the case of Nikko Gold Coast Cruises v. Gulliford, 448 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1984)(V12-2229-2234). It should be noted that the Order does not discuss the Dual Purpose Doctrine.

improved to the extent that her memory and communication skills allow her to offer relevant information and testimony to this Court about the facts of her case (V12-2234). Claimant sought a rehearing to allow her to testify, since she could not have testified at the original trial in February of 1996 (V12-2234-2236).

A hearing on Claimant's motion was held on 4/17/97 (V3-8)

5

At that hearing, the JCC noted, <u>inter alia</u>, that he was not going to be around much longer, and if the thing wasn't finalized before he left, then Claimant would have to have another trial (V3-600). The JCC further ruled that he was going to deny the motion because he thought that Claimant had to come into the Motion for Re-hearing and present evidence showing specifically what she would say, not in general terms but in specific terms (V4-610). The JCC orally denied the motion, and indicated he would not reduce it to writing (V4-610, 611).

On 4/18/97, Claimant timely filed her Notice of Appeal with the First District Court of Appeal (V12-2263, 2264).

On 12/28/98, the First DCA, in a written opinion, affirmed the JCC's order (A1, 2)holding as follows:

"Although Claimant had completed preparation of a newsletter for Publix at home before embarking on journey to work and newsletter was present in her car at the time of accident, these facts are not sufficient to compel compensability οf her injuries. Competent substantial evidence in the record supports the finding that Claimant prepared the newsletter at her home for her own convenience." (A-2).

The First DCA also stated in its 12/28/98 opinion:

"Similarly, although preparation of the newsletter was an employment duty, it was not necessary that the newsletter be brought to work the morning of January 26, 1995. The purpose of

Claimant's commute early that morning was to carry out her responsibilities related to opening the store at 4:00 a.m. Her delivery of the newsletter was merely an incidental part of the trip. She would not have made the drive if the personal motive (going to work) was removed."(A-2).

On 1/28/99 the First DCA denied Claimant's Motion for Rehearing.

Thereafter, Claimant filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Honorable Court. On 6/30/99 this Honorable Court entered an Order accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with Oral Argument. Furthermore in that order this Honorable Court directed the Claimant/Petitioner to serve her Initial Brief on the Merits on or before 7/26/99. This brief is being filed pursuant to this Honorable Court's Order of 6/30/99.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Claimant, Caroline Gilbert, is 34 years old (V1-54). Claimant has worked for the Employer since she was 16 years old, except for 2 to 3 years when she went to beautician school and worked as a beautician (V1-54).

On the date of her accident, 1/26/95, Claimant was working as a

Second Assistant Manager for Publix Store No. 427 (V2-214). At that time, David Currey was the store manager (V2-341, 342), Mike Schithel with the assistant store manager (V2-247; V8-1414), and Nathan Hicks was also a second assistant manager (V2-214, 343).

Mr. Schithel was the direct supervisor of Claimant and Mr. Hicks $(V2-247,\ 248,\ 251,\ 252)$.

Claimant, as Second Assistant Manager, was required to work 50

hours per week (V2-251). There were times, however when Claimant and other managers were unable to get all of their work done within the 50 hours, and they would have to work additional hours (V2-216, 251-252, 351-352). If Claimant worked extra hours, she would be paid for it (V2-348).

Additionally, all of the managers testified that there were times when they would have to take work home (Nathan Hicks, V2-218), (Mike Schithel, V2-249, 252, 277; V7-146-148). The reason they would take work home was because they didn't have time to do it at the store (V2-249).

Claimant would work 5 days per week, but the days would vary (V2-349). The Employer's work week started on a Saturday, and ended on a Friday (V2-230). The weekly schedule would be posted prior to Saturday (V2-230). The schedules were normally penciled in, in case they needed to be changed (V2-257). If there was a change to the schedule, then someone would call the manager in charge to let them know who would be opening the store (V2-258).

One of the job responsibilities of a Second Assistant Manager was to open the store (V9-1630). It was a normal job responsibility for both Second Assistant Manager (Nathan Hicks and Claimant) to open the store at 4:00 a.m. (V2-229, 230; V9-1630, 1631). All of the managers, including Claimant, had a set

of keys to the store, and were required to keep keys with them at all times $(V2-217,\ 218,\ 352)$.

In addition, all of the managers, including Claimant, were on call 24 hours per day, 7 days per week (V2-216, 217, 253, 351; V8-1421). Additionally, there may be times when a manager would get called to return to the store because of an incident or accident from a customer that needed to be handled properly (V8-1421-1422). An example of the type of duties that someone would have to respond to on a 24 hour, 7 day a week basis, would be to burglar alarms (V8-1422). Other examples would include if someone was late for work, or if the person scheduled to open the store hadn't made it, then someone else would get a call to come open the store (V2-216, 217, 253, 351).

Store No. 427, which is the store Claimant worked at, had a newsletter, which was the idea of Mr. Currey, the manager (V2-353). The newsletter informed store associates of various programs, new associates, various promotions and things of that nature (V2-353). It also listed procedures that were to be followed by associates (V2-353). The newsletter would have the store stamp on top, and information would also include special events taking place, like special olympics, store policies as far as dress codes, handling carryouts, sometimes even the purchase of merchandise by employees (V8-1419). The newsletter was considered an informative letter that informed employees as to what was going on (V8-1420). The idea was to have the store run more efficiently, and give employees more pride in the store (V8-

1420, 1421).

The newsletter was Claimant's responsibility (V2-218, 219, 262, 353), and she had to do it each week (V2-353, 354). The newsletter had to be brought into the store each Thursday morning before 8:00 a.m. so that it could be delivered with the paychecks

(Nathan Hicks, Second Assistant Manager)(V2-220); (Mr. Schithel, Claimant's direct supervisor)(V2-262, 263, V8-1434), (David Currey, Store Manager)(V2-354).

The JCC specifically found:

"The Claimant was responsible for a newsletter . . ."(V12-2219).

Claimant generally prepared the newsletter at home on Wednesday nights, and would bring it into the store on Thursday mornings (V2-219, 264, 355). She would have to gather all of the information she needed for that week's newsletter, such as new employees, current events happening in the store, and any additional policies that Mr. Currey might have wanted included (V8-1425). Claimant would normally have all of the information gathered on Wednesday, she would work on the letter at home, and bring it back on Thursday morning, normally by 7:00 a.m. so it could be attached to the paychecks (V8-1425). The reason the Claimant would take the newsletter home to type was because there was no typewriter in the store (V2-264, 345, 346). Claimant's immediate supervisor, Mike Schithel, knew the Claimant did the newsletter at home, and

never told her she could not do it at home (V2-265; V8-1418).

The manager, David Currey, and Nathan Hicks were also aware that Claimant prepared the newsletter at home (V2-265, 355). Mr. Currey admitted in his deposition that he never told Claimant not to promulgate the newsletters at home (V2-357). At first, at the hearing, Mr. Currey stated that he told Claimant not to do the newsletter at home (V2-356), but after being told of his deposition testimony, recanted his testimony and simply stated that he encouraged Claimant to do the newsletter at work (V2-357). He then admitted at the hearing that Claimant was never told that she was not allowed to do the newsletter at home (V2-358). In fact, Mr. Currey admitted that he allowed Claimant to take the newsletter home as long as she kept track of her time (V2-358), and if she kept track of her time, she was paid for the time she spent preparing the newsletter at home because it was a job duty (V2-358).

Claimant's normal schedule on Thursdays was to come in at 10:00 a.m. (V8-1425). However, according to the testimony, Claimant would generally bring the newsletter in between 6:30 a.m. and 7:00 a.m., before she was scheduled to work (V2-263; V8-1419, 1447). In fact, the unrefuted testimony establishes that Claimant would bring the newsletter in on Thursday mornings, even on Thursdays that she was not scheduled to work (V2-356; V8-1435). There was no specific time in the morning that Claimant had to bring the newsletter in, as long as it was brought in in time to be delivered with the paychecks that were delivered at

8:00 a.m.(V2-267).

Claimant has a son, Brandon Gilbert (V1-178, 179), and in fact, her normal routine on Thursdays was to take her son to the store with her to deliver the newsletter, then take him to breakfast, and then take him to school (V1-63; V8-1426). Prior to her accident, Claimant had prepared 18 weekly newsletters (V2-362).

At the time of the accident, Claimant was living with her father, Charles Moore, her mother, Donna Moore, and her son, Brandon Gilbert (V1-51-53). Claimant and her son lived upstairs and Mr. and Mrs. Moore lived downstairs (V1-52, 53). Claimant had a work station at home in her bedroom (V1-58, 105), which included a desk, typewriter, typewriter table, phone, pens, pencils and notepads (V1-58, 59). The work station was installed when Claimant went to work for the Store No. 427 (V1-59). A picture of the workroom was introduced into evidence (V8-1474).

Mr. Moore, Mrs. Moore and Claimant's son all confirmed that she would do the newsletter at home each week, normally on Wednesday evenings in the bedroom (V1-55-56, 118, 144, 179-181).

Claimant was scheduled to open the store at 4:00 a.m. on 1/26/95 (V2-234, 279; V8-1446).

On 8/25/95, Mr. Schithel, Assistant Store Manager and direct supervisor of Claimant (V2-247, 248, 251, 252), wrote a letter to the adjuster stating:

"I am writing this letter on behalf of the Moore family concerning Caroline Gilbert, their daughter. Caroline was

my assistant at the Publix No. 427 in Orlando. I would like to make you aware of the fact that Caroline was not normally scheduled to work on Thursday mornings. schedule was changed to accommodate а dental appointment for her. date of her accident was not her normal scheduled day and she was opening for my other assistant Mr. Nathan Hicks. She was not aware of the change in the schedule until I informed her about it. The actual manager scheduled to open was Nathan Hicks." (V9-1702).

The date of the accident was Thursday, 1/26/95(V1-64; V9-1704).

Claimant's son, Brandon Gilbert, testified that on the evening of 1/25/95, Claimant was typing the newsletter (V1-183).

On the morning of 1/26/95, Claimant's father, Mr. Moore called Claimant to wake her up at 2:30 a.m. (V1-72, 73, 110). Brandon testified that he heard his mother doing more work on the newsletter in the morning (V1-189). Mr. Gilbert testified that Claimant finished the newsletter in the morning because he woke up and heard her typing it (V1-189). He testified that Claimant was already dressed and ready to go to work when she was finishing the newsletter (V1-190).

According to Ms. Moore, Claimant left for work at 3:00 or 3:30 a.m. (V1-135).

While Claimant was driving to work, she was involved in an automobile

accident at approximately 3:45 a.m. (V4-636). A drunk driver (with a blood alcohol level of .17, V4-641), ran into Claimant's vehicle (V4-641). Corporal John Gregory of the Florida Highway Patrol investigated the accident (V4-641). When Corporal Gregory investigated the accident, Claimant was unconscious (V4-642). Claimant was carried by Air Care to Orlando Regional Medical Center (V4-643). Claimant remained in the hospital from the day of the accident through 6/29/95, at which time she was returned home under 24 hour per day care by her parents (V1-81, 82, 85).

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