IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. 94,998

CAROLINE GILBERT,

Petitioner,

V.

PUBLIX SUPERMARKETS and CARE ADMINISTRATORS SERVICES,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PUBLIX SUPERMARKETS and CARE ADMINISTRATORS SERVICES

ON DISCRETIONARY F&VIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Brenda K. Supple, Esq. Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 579-0500 Facsimile: (305) 579-0723

Counsel for Respondents

TABLEOFCONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
TABLE OF	CITATIONS	iii
CERTIFICA	TE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE	
INTRODUC	ETION	1
STATEMEN	NT OF THE CASE**	2
STATEMEN	NT OF THE FACTS	4
SUMMARY	OF ARGUMENT	6

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court's grant of conflict review was improvidently granted. There is no decisional conflict between this case and the two cases on which Ms. Gilbert relied for conflict.

Based on competent substantial evidence in the record, the going and coming rule was properly applied in the **first** instance by the Judge of Compensation Claims, and the findings of the Judge were properly affirmed by the district court.

ARGUMENT

I. Jurisdiction was improvidently granted, as the district court's decision is not in express and direct conflict with any Florida appellate court decision.

The Court has tentatively accepted jurisdiction to review Ms. Gilbert's workers' compensation claim based on an alleged conflict between the district court's decision and this Court's decisions in *Cook v. Highway Casualty Co., 82* So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1955), and *Nikko Gold Coast Cruises v. Gulliford, 448 So.* 2d 1002 (Fla. 1984). Decisional conflict is wholly absent, however, and it is certainly not in conflict "expressly and directly" as the Constitution requires. The district court, like the Judge on two occasions following evidentiary hearings, applied the statutory "going and coming" rule to the factual record developed by Ms. Gilbert using exactly the same legal principles which the Court announced in *Cook* and applied in *Nikko*.

There is absolutely no conflict with *Cook*. The Court's *Cook* decision did nothing other than adopt for Florida the "concurrent cause" doctrine of the going

Amended Initial Brief on Jurisdiction at 5; Initial Brief at 15-16, 25, 32.

and coming rule — the legal principle that compensation will not be barred when a business purpose co-exists with a personal purpose for a trip during which the employee suffered an injury, and that "no nice inquiry" will be made to determine the relative importance of the concurrent business and personal motives for the trip. 82 So. 2d at 682 (quoting a Mississippi decision the Court was choosing to follow). The Court made no finding of compensability or non-compensability in *Cook*, however. It simply announced its adoption of the dual purpose doctrine and then remanded the case to the fact-finder for a re-evaluation of the merits.

The district court in this case did not repudiate or contravene the dual purpose doctrine as articulated in *Cook*. It merely held that the doctrine did not pertain to Ms. Gilbert's commute, based on record support for the factual finding of the Judge that the presence of the store newsletter in her car on the day of her accident was completely incidental, and that she would not have made the drive with the newsletter if she had not otherwise been obligated to open the store on that day. 724 So. 2d at 1222.

The district court's decision is fully consistent with *Cook.* Nothing in that decision mandates an application of the dual purpose exception to the going and coming rule when the transport of work paraphernalia is merely incidental to a commute, and not essential to the employee's job responsibilities. *E.g., Nikko,* 448 So. 2d at 1004; *United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co. v. Rowe,* 126 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1961) (rejecting compensability for the incidental transport of work-related cash funds back to the work place in the course of a normal return to work).

Ms. Gilbert presents no better argument for "conflict" with respect to the Court's decision in *Nikko* than she did with respect to its decision in *Cook*.

Nikko, which involved cash being transport from the employee's workplace,

came to the Court based on a conflict with **Rowe** and, in the Court's opinion, "differs significantly," **448 So.** 2d at 1004. In **Nikko**, the funds being transported on Mr. Gulliford's commute to work on the day of his accident had been taken home the night before, and were being returned as an **employer**-mandated job responsibility which was based on a "complete understanding between himself and his employer as to **the essential** nature of his task." **Id.** (emphasis added), As a job responsibility indispensable to the operation of the business for which he worked, Mr. Gulliford was required to safeguard the employer's daily cash receipts overnight and return them to his employer's business the next day. That responsibility meant that, even if he did not intend to come to work the next day, he would be required to make a trip to the employer's work place or to arrange for someone else to take the operational cash to the business site. **Id.**

There is no "conflict" between *Nikko* and the decision of the district court in Ms. Gilbert's case. From the four corners of its decision, the district court's opinion describes a factual scenario of an employee who, as matter of personal convenience, prepared a store newsletter at home and happened to have it in her car when she undertook her commute to begin work on the day of the accident, As the district court stated, Ms. Gilbert had prepared the newsletter at her home "for her convenience," that it was "not necessary" that it be brought to the store on the morning of her accident, that her transport of the newsletter was "an incidental part of her trip," and that she would not have made the drive if her "personal motive (going to work) was removed." 724 So. 2d at 1222. Those facts in no way present an express and direct conflict with *Nikko*, or suggest disharmony in the application of the going and coming rule which would warrant the Court's having to express an opinion on the subject. It is highly relevant to the Court's jurisdiction that neither Ms. Gilbert's jurisdictional brief nor her

initial merits' brief asks the Court to make any clarification of the workers' compensation law in any respect, or to harmonize any policy which the district court's decision is claimed to have disrupted, She points to nothing by way of law, principle or policy in the district court's decision which is at odds with any law, principle or policy in Cook or in **Nikko**.

Ms. Gilbert asks the Court only for a third-level, record review; nothing more. The Court has not previously retained jurisdiction, although tentatively granted, when there is no facial conflict and no policy reason to grant the petitioner a third, plenary record review. See, *e.g., DiPietro v. Griefer*, *732 So.* 2d 323 (Fla. *1999); St. Mary's Hospital, Inc. v. Brinson*, 709 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1998). Under the Constitution in its present form, record review is left to the judges of the district *courts. Jenkins v. State*, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980).

II. The district court properly affirmed the finding of the Judge of Compensation Claims which denied workers' compensation benefits for Ms. Gilbert.

Ms. Gilbert has streamlined her position before this Court to abandon all but one of the multiple, alternate theories under which she sought to be compensated for her commute to work on the morning of her unfortunate accident! She presents the Court only with a claim for compensation grounded on the dual purpose exception to the going and coming rule of non-compensability. An application of the dual purpose doctrine is factually intensive, though, and Ms.

Issues not argued in a brief are deemed abandoned. *E.g., F.M. W. Properties, Inc. v. Peoples First Financial Savings & Loan Ass 'n, 606 So.* 2d 372, 377 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Florida Ass 'n of Nurse Anesthetists v. *Dep 't of Prof. Regulation, Board of Dentistry, 500 So.* 2d 324, 327 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), review denied, 509 So. 2d 1117 (Fla. 1987).

Gilbert cannot sustain her burden of establishing that both the finder of fact and the reviewing district court judges rejected her claim of compensability based on a complete absence of competent substantial evidence in the record. Were the Court to review the district court's decision on the merits (which **Publix** suggests is not appropriate), it would **find** that more than ample evidence supports the district court's determination that the findings of the Judge were supported by competent substantial evidence.

A. The "dual purpose" exception to the going and coming rule requires a factual showing that a personal commute to work has a concurrent "business" purpose.

The going and coming rule which bars compensation for injuries sustained while commuting to or from work is codified in section 440.092(2), Fla. Stat. (1995). That section provides that an injury suffered "while going to or coming from work" is not an injury arising out of and in the course of employment? Put another way, injuries sustained while commuting to or from work are not compensable because the travel is personal and does not arise in the course and scope of employment. E.g., *Securex, Inc.* v. *Couto*, 627 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). A recognized exception to the going and coming rule, though, is the dual purpose doctrine of Cook — that a trip otherwise personal in nature will be compensable if it was undertaken for a concurrent business purpose.

The statute goes on to create an exception for a "special errand or mission for the employer," but that ground for claiming compensation is one of several raised below which has now been abandoned. Ms. Gilbert's complex analysis and discussion of the statutory terms "errand" and "mission" (Initial Brief at 29-32) adds no new appellate issue, as it collapses in the final analysis into her "dual purpose" argument based on **Nikko** and **Cook.** *Id.* at 32.

Any determination regarding the going and coming rule is factually intensive, and appellate review of a going and coming determination is governed by the standard of whether there is any substantial competent evidence to support the decision of the finder of fact. E.g., *Krause v. West Lumber Co., 227 So.* 2d 486, 487 (Fla. 1969); *Eady v. Medical Personnel Pool, 377 So.* 2d 693, 696 (Fla. 1979); *Tampa Airport Hilton Hotel v. Hawkins, 557 So.* 2d 953, 954 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1990). The fact-finder in this case who conducted evidentiary hearings before twice rejecting Ms. Gilbert's claim, as well as the district court, found ample record evidence for a determination of non-compensability.

Ms. Gilbert's normal work schedule dictated that she open her store at 4:00 a.m. on the days she had that responsibility, one of which at her own request was the day of the accident. Vol. XII at 22 16-17. At the time of her accident, Ms. Gilbert was going to her regular place of work over the route she normally traversed. Vol. I at 77; Vol. XII at 2218. An accident under these circumstances would be non-compensable under section 440.092(2) unless Ms. Gilbert was driving with a concurrent **business** purpose for the journey.

Her claim for compensation here depends on a showing that there is **no** competent substantial evidence in the record to the effect that the presence of the store newsletter in her car on the Thursday morning of the accident was happenstance, completely incidental to her commute. The presence of any competent evidence that the newsletter was **not** for a business purpose, but rather for her personal convenience, defeats her attempt to vacate the **non**-compensability finding of the Judge and its affirmance by the district court.

Ms, Gilbert pins her claim for compensation on a contention that her job **required the** preparation of a store newsletter at her home on Wednesday nights, and that her job **required** her to have the newsletter available for distribution with employee paychecks at 8:00 a.m. on Thursday morning. Despite her ardent

assertions of allegedly unrefuted evidence on these points, and her contention that from "a factual standpoint" the district court "misinterpreted the facts in this case" (Initial Brief at 19), there is competent substantial evidence to the contrary.

B. Competent substantial evidence in the record supports the finding of the Judge, which the district court affirmed, that Ms. Gilbert's transport of the store newsletter at the time of her accident was not in furtherance of a "business" purpose.

Ms. Gilbert first disputes the district court's determination that she prepared the newsletter at her home for her own convenience, contending that two witnesses testified she completed the newsletter at home "because there was no typewriter in the store." Initial Brief at 19. The record, however, establishes that there was a *computer* in the store, that it was available for her use in preparing the newsletter, and that on occasion she had in fact used it for that purpose. Vol. II at 282-83, 361, 385, 386. The absence of a "typewriter" at the store did not require her preparation of the newsletter at her home.

Ms. Gilbert disputes the district court's statement that her transport of the newsletter in her car was merely an incidental part of the trip, contending that "the newsletter had to be brought into the store each Thursday morning before 8:00 a.m. so that it could be delivered with the paychecks." Initial Brief at 19-20. Here, too, the record indicates otherwise. Ms. Gilbert was not under a duty to deliver the newsletter to the store on **any** Thursday, much less one on which she was not working, Vol, II at 363, 364. Paychecks were not withheld from employees if the store newsletter was not completed in time for delivery with those checks. Vol. II at 278 (Assistant Store Manager Seithel), 374 (Store Manager Curry); Vol. III at 408 (employee subsequently responsible for the

newsletter). The store newsletter was *not* an indispensable part of the business of **Publix** Store No. 427.8

Ms. Gilbert next disputes the district court's determination that she would not have made the drive on the morning of her accident if she were otherwise not going to work that day. Initial Brief at 20. The record, however, does not support her assertion. Store employees testified that Ms. Gilbert would generally bring the letter in before her work schedule on Thursdays. Vol. II at 266. Unlike the situation in *Nikko*, however, where Mr. Gulliford either brought the operating cash to his work place every day as an assigned responsibility or arranged for someone else to do so, Ms, Gilbert was not required to bring the newsletter to her place of work or to arrange for someone else to bring it in, and there is no evidence that she ever made arrangements for someone else to do so when she could not.

Ms. Gilbert had asked the Judge for an **inference** that she would have delivered the newsletter to the store on the day of her accident irrespective of her obligation to open the store that day. The record does not support that inference (Vol. II at 28 1-82), and it was properly rejected. Vol. XII at 2220.9

_

Ms. Gilbert had been an employee of Publix for approximately 16 years. Vol. I at 54. The preparation of a newsletter for her store commenced only two and one-half months before her accident. Vol. II at 262, 353-54.

Ms. Gilbert did not prevail before the Judge of Compensation Claims, Consequently, she is not entitled to **any** inference from the record, and Publix is entitled to **all** reasonable inferences. E.g., **Bass v. General Motors** Corp., 637 So. 2d 304, 306 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) ("a **JCC's** findings are to be sustained if it is permitted by any view of the evidence and its possible inferences").

The record contains compelling evidence from which the district court was able to conclude that the factual findings of the Judge should be sustained. The following evidence was supplied from Ms. Gilbert's supervisors at the Publix store where she worked.

- 1. Ms. Gilbert was expected to draft the newsletter **at the store**, not at home, and to leave it at the store on Wednesday if she was not scheduled to work on Thursday. Vol. II at 355, 357, 364.
- **2.** Ms. Gilbert was not expected to bring the newsletter to the store on her days off. Vol. II at 363-64.
- **3.** It was entirely **Ms.** Gilbert's choice to work at home, rather than to use the store computer. Vol. II at 386-87.
- 4. Paychecks were distributed without the newsletter when it was not available. Vol. II at 278.

Needless to say, even if there were conflicting evidence on any of these points, 10 the decision of the district court would have to be sustained. The fact-finder in this case twice found that Ms. Gilbert's injuries were not compensable, and as the *Cook* decision re-affirmed a decision of the fact-finding body on the question of whether the injury occurred in the course of employment "would not be disturbed if the evidence and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom were sufficient to sustain such finding." 82 So. 2d at 682.

Ms. Gilbert's attempt to present a factual foundation for compensation which aligns with the outcome of *Nikko* is a vain undertaking. There, as here, an

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